THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Larry Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001304

---

**RECEIVED**  
AUG 03 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

Phillippa Smalling, individually and as Next Friend for  
Jahmerican M., a minor

Appellant,

v.

Lisa R. Maselli, M.D., both individually and  
as agent/employee of Carolina OB-GYN,

Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**GRAHAM LAW FIRM, PA**

Edward L. Graham (SC Bar 2483)  
GRAHAM LAW FIRM, P.A.  
120 Donald Drive  
Pendleton, SC 29670  
[egraham@grahamlawfirm.net](mailto:egraham@grahamlawfirm.net)  
843-496-4996 (t)

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the trial court erred by not determining S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230 failed as a matter of law.
2. Whether S.C. Code Section 15-32-230(a) is ambiguous and must be construed in accordance with standard principles of statutory construction.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried by a jury, the appellate court may correct only errors of law. *Berberich v. Jack*, 392 S.C. 278, 709 S.E.2d 607 (2011), *Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976). An issue regarding statutory interpretation is a question of law. *S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env'tl. Control*, 390 S.C. 418, 425, 703 S.E.2d 246, 250 (2010). "Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which the appellate court is free to decide without any deference to the court below." *Grier v. AMISUB of SC, Inc.* S.C. 532, 535, 725 S. E.2d 693, 695 (2012).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an obstetrical malpractice case involving an injury sustained by the minor appellant (hereinafter the "Child") at the time of his birth. Appellant Phillipa Smalling (hereinafter, the "Mother;" and collectively with the Child, the "Appellants") brought this action in her individual capacity and as Next Friend of the Child. Appellants allege that Dr. Lisa R. Maselli (hereinafter, the "OB"), and Carolina OB-GYN (hereinafter the "OB

Group;” and collectively with the OB, the “Respondents”) mismanaged a complication of vaginal birth, thereby causing nerve injuries to the Child. (R. pp. 12-20)

Appellants filed the Summons and Complaint on October 12, 2016; and the case was designated as Civil Action Number 2016-CP-22-00863. *Id.* On November 11, 2016, Respondents answered with general denials and assertions of numerous affirmative defenses. These include the affirmative defense under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230 which, *inter alia*, grants tort immunity to obstetricians acting on an emergency basis for certain of their patients, unless the patient proves he was grossly negligent. (R. pp. 21-30) Plaintiff filed an Amended Summons and Complaint on March 16, 2017, and it was answered on April 17, 2017 with no material defense added. (R. pp. 31-40)

Appellants moved on October 17, 2019 for partial summary judgment to preclude the statutory defense under § 15-32-320 on the basis that, properly construed, it does not apply to this case. (R. pp. 949-951) This motion was denied on December 17, 2018. (R. pp. 6-8)

The case went to trial against Respondents in the Georgetown County Court of Common Pleas beginning on April 1, 2019, with the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr. serving as the trial judge for the majority of the trial. Trial started on a Monday and concluded that Friday, April 5, 2015. After the Respondents rested, Appellants moved for a directed verdict in their favor on the statutory defense, based in part on the inapplicability of the statute as a matter of law. (R. pp. 806-809) The Court determined the statute presented questions of fact for the jury. (R. p. 809)

During trial, a recently elected circuit court judge, the Honorable Bentley Price, had joined Judge Hyman at the bench to observe the trial proceedings. Judge Hyman invited

Judge Price to preside over the closing arguments. Judge Price sustained Respondents' motion to preclude Appellants from addressing in reply closing argument (1) the requirement that Appellants prove the OB was grossly negligent, if they concluded that Respondents had proven the statute applied; and (2) how the evidence proved that she was grossly negligent. (R. p. 858)

Over Appellants' objection, the court's jury charges included (1) S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-23-320 (A); and (2) the standard medical malpractice hindsight charge, without clarification that it applied only to the standard of care and not to statutory qualifiers of medical instability and immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury. (R. p. 712, line 23-p.713, line 5) The trial judge also overruled Appellant's alternative request to charge Subsection (B) of the statute, in light of his decision to charge Subsection (A). (R. p.711, line 7 – p. 712, line 10) Again, over Appellants' objection, the court submitted a jury verdict form which included the statutory defense. (R. p. 876)

The verdict form posed two initial questions whether Appellants had met their burden of proving ordinary negligence as a cause of the child's damages. (R. pp. 4-5) The verdict form then directed the jury to stop deliberations if the answer was "no," but to go to the next few questions concerning the statutory defense, if the answer to the first two questions was "yes." The next question asked whether, if the Respondents had met their burden of proving the statutory defense, Appellants had met their burden of proving the OB was grossly negligent. *Id.*

The jury began their deliberations at 4:03 pm on Friday, April 5, 2019. The jury foreman informed the judge that the jury had been unable to agree on the answer to the first two questions, but the jury had reached a decision on the rest of the questions and asked if

they could return a verdict on that basis. (R. pp. 881-890) Over Appellants' objection, the court agreed to accept their partial verdict. *Id.* Deliberations concluded at 6:25 pm.

The verdict form returned by the jury did not answer whether Appellants had met their burden of proving ordinary negligence as a cause of the child's damages. However, after skipping those questions, the jury did answer that Respondents had proven a qualifying emergency under the statute and that Appellants had not proven that the OB was grossly negligent. (R. pp. 4-5)

After the jury was dismissed, Appellants moved orally for a new trial, which the judge denied at that time, before Appellants stated the grounds. (R. p. 895) Within ten days, on April 15, 2019, Appellants filed alternative written motions, for (1) a new trial and (2) relief under Rule 59(e), SCRCP, to alter or amend the oral ruling. (R. pp. 952-965) The judge agreed to hear all the motions in full. Following a hearing on June 27, 2019, the judge denied Appellants' motions. (R. pp. pp.1-3)

Appellants then timely served and filed their Notice of Appeal. (R. pp. 979-983) The amount involved in this appeal is over One Million Dollars.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This is an obstetrical negligence claim involving allegations of negligence and other wrongdoing by the Defendant OB during the birth of the Child, which caused him to sustain severe and permanent injuries to his brachial plexus nerves on the right side. Brachial plexus nerves provide motor function to the muscles in the arm and shoulder area, as well as certain sensory functions. (R. pp. 91-92)

After learning she was pregnant, the Mother sought and received prenatal care from the OB Group. On April 27, 2013, the Mother was admitted to Georgetown Memorial

Hospital for labor and delivery. Upon her admission, the OB was responsible for managing Phillipa's labor and delivery. (R. pp. 897-904)

After the Child's head delivered, his top shoulder ("anterior" shoulder) did not deliver with normal and gentle guidance type of pulling ("traction"), signaling an obstetrical complication known as "shoulder dystocia." This complication results in a delay in delivery of the baby's body, usually caused, as in this case, by the top shoulder becoming lodged behind the mother's pubic bone in its passage through the birth canal. (R. pp.171-172)

Standard obstetrical teaching provides several techniques and maneuvers to resolve the shoulder dystocia and deliver the baby injury-free. (R. pp. 543-546) Some of these are external to the mother's body and can be performed by nurses. (R. pp.175-181) Others are internal, meaning inside of the mother's birth canal. These can be performed only by a physician. (R. pp. 186-188; pp. 205-207)

The OB ordered the nurses to perform two external maneuvers in this delivery, one to change the Mother's leg position ("McRoberts") and the other intended to release the shoulder by indirect pressure on it by applying external pressure just above the Mother's pubic bone ("suprapubic pressure"). These, plus normal and gentle traction by the OB, did not release the top shoulder. The OB cut an episiotomy. The recognized reason to do so in this context is to provide more room for an obstetrician's hand(s) inside the birth canal for internal maneuvers. At that point three commonly used internal maneuvers were available for the OB to use to release the shoulder safely, with no increase in her traction on the baby's head or bending of his neck. Two involve rotation of the shoulder around the pubic

bone (“Rubin’s” and “Woods”). The other involves sweeping the baby’s bottom arm across his chest to deliver the bottom shoulder before the top one. (“posterior arm delivery method”). Despite having cut the episiotomy, the OB chose not to take advantage of any of these common safety procedures for which she was trained. Instead, she chose to try to release the top shoulder by manipulating the baby’s head more forcefully. With the nurses performing suprapubic pressure according to her orders, the OB pulled the Child’s head and neck out and down with increasing force. (R. pp. 94-95; pp. 117-122; pp. 184-186; pp. 207-216; p. 899; p. 902)

The Child was delivered approximately one minute after his head delivered. Unfortunately, he was delivered with traumatic injuries to the brachial plexus nerves on the right side of his neck. His right arm hung limp following his birth, paralyzed except for minimal movement of his fingers. (R. pp. 593-594; pp. 807-904) Three of his nerves have severe and devastating permanent damage. The child’s C-5 and C-6 nerve roots are completely avulsed from his spinal cord; and the C-7 nerve root is partially avulsed. Avulsion means the nerve roots are actually pulled out from the spinal cord. This reduced the chance for him to obtain much surgical improvement, as there is no live nerve near the spinal cord to which the “downstream” nerve could otherwise have been reattached. He also had a large neuroma, encompassing the three injured nerves. That is like a large unhealed scab which further reduced his chance for surgical improvement. After multiple surgeries and extensive rehabilitation and therapy, the Child’s right shoulder and arm have improved somewhat, but he has significant impairments and disabilities which are permanent. These include, among others, loss of muscle mass and strength, disfigurement, and reduced range of motion in his right arm in all directions. He will never be able to

perform activities requiring two arms. He will have no use of his right arm except as a helper arm. He will suffer adverse effects on various other bodily functions, including gait, balance and skeletal symmetry. He will experience fewer career opportunities and reduced earning capacity as well as future medical expenses. (R. pp. 93-111; pp. 281-287; pp. 297-324; pp. 378-389; pp. 393-428)

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN NOT DETERMINING S.C. CODE 15-32-230 FAILED AS A MATTER OF LAW.**

#### **a. Introduction.**

At issue in this appeal is the proper construction of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230, which, *inter alia*, codified major changes in the common law regarding liability of obstetricians for injuries they cause during certain emergencies. The statute provides as follows:

*Section 15-32-230.*

*(A) In an action involving a medical malpractice claim arising out of care rendered in a genuine emergency situation involving an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury to the patient receiving care in an emergency department or in an obstetrical or surgical suite, no physician may be held liable unless it is proven that the physician was grossly negligent.*

*(B) In an action involving a medical malpractice claim arising out of obstetrical care rendered by a physician on an emergency basis when there is no previous doctor/patient relationship between the physician or a member of his practice with a patient or the patient has not received prenatal care, such physician is not liable unless it is proven such physician is grossly negligent.*

*(C) The limitation on physician liability established by subsections (A) and (B) shall only apply if the patient is not medically stable and:*

*(1) in immediate threat of death; or*

*(2) in immediate threat of serious bodily injury.*

*Further, the limitation on physician liability established by subsections (A) and (B) shall only apply to care rendered prior to the patient's discharge from the emergency department or obstetrical or surgical suite.*

- b. Subsection (B) preserves the right of established patients who had prenatal care to recover compensation for harm caused by obstetrical negligence during an emergency.**

Appellants submit that the best starting point for construing the statute is Subsection (B). This Subsection is clear and unambiguous, before consideration of the Subsection (C) limitations. (B) grants qualified tort immunity “involving a medical malpractice claim arising out of obstetrical care rendered by a physician on an emergency basis...,” if certain qualifying conditions are met. The qualifying conditions are (1) “the patient is not medically stable;” (2)(A) there is an “immediate threat of death” *or* (B) an “immediate threat of serious bodily injury;” and (3)(A) “when there is no previous doctor/patient relationship between the physician or a member of his practice with a patient *or* (B) the patient has not received prenatal care....” (Emphasis, numbering and lettering added.) Stated differently, Subsection (B) provides obstetricians immunity from liability for damages to disfavored patients caused by their obstetrical negligence, recklessness, willfulness and/or wantonness, whenever their obstetrical care is on an emergency basis, and when the obstetrician proves that the qualifying conditions are present. If a defendant obstetrician meets all these requirements, there is no physician liability absent the patient's proof that the obstetrician was “grossly negligent.”

In altering tort liability of obstetricians *vis-à-vis* some but not all patients, the General Assembly deemed it important to distinguish patients with pre-existing

relationships *and* prenatal care from all others. Legislative intent was to immunize obstetricians from common law liability to the latter for all care provided on an emergency basis, except when the doctor was proven grossly negligent. Just as clearly, by distinguishing two categories of patients for Subsection (B) immunity, the General Assembly intended to preserve the right of favored (i.e., qualified as established patients who had prenatal care) patients to receive compensation for harm inflicted by obstetrical negligence during an emergency.

It is undisputed that Appellants had a previous relationship with Respondents' practice *and* received prenatal care. Thus, as a matter of law, Appellants are favored patients, and Respondents receive no relief under this emergency statute.

- c. It is error to construe Subsection (A) to undermine the clear legislative intent expressed in Subsection (B) to preserve common law tort rights of established patients who had prenatal care.**

The trial judge erred in his interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230. By starting with a reading of Subsection (A), he missed the significance of Subsection (B) and applied Subsection (A) out of the context of the entire statute. Doing so thwarts legislative intent because it leaves Subsection (B) devoid of meaning or reason to exist. If Subsection (A) is applied to established patients who had prenatal care, this makes Subsection (B) superfluous.

In creating tort immunity which did not exist under the common law, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230 plainly abrogated common law tort principles. "[S]tatutes in derogation of the common law are to be strictly construed." *Grier v. AMISUB of S.C., Inc., supra*, citing *Epstein v. Coastal Timber Co.*, 393 S.C. 276, 285, 711 S.E.2d 912, 917 (2011). Additionally, "[u]nder this rule, a statute restricting the common law will 'not be extended

beyond the clear intent of the legislature.” *Id.* citing *Crosby v. Glasscock Trucking Co.*, 340 S.C. 626, 628, 532 S.E.2d 856, 857 (2000).

All subsections of 15-32-320 must be strictly construed in a manner that disturbs long-standing common law only to the extent necessary to effectuate the clear intent of the legislature. *See also Velazquez v. Jiminez*, 172 N.J. 240, 257, 798 A.2d 51, 62, (N.J. 2002) (noting courts give “‘narrow range’ to statutes granting immunity from tort liability because they leave ‘unredressed injury and loss resulting from wrongful conduct.’”).

As compared to Subsection (A), Subsection (B) is inoffensive to the common law, with respect to favored patients. To subsume Subsection (B) under Subsection (A) would disturb long-standing common law to an unnecessary and excessive extent. Strict construction requires that preservation of common rights of favored patients must prevail over any contrary construction of Subsection (A).

“The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the legislature.” *Sloan v. Hardee*, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007). “When a statute’s terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning.” *Sloan v. Hardee, Id.* In interpreting a statute “(w)ords must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation.” *Id.* Viewed independently of other subsections, Subsection (B) is clear and unambiguous. The Court should apply its meaning without the forced construction that would result from Subsection (A)’s disregard of the distinctions (B) makes among patients.

Further, the “statute must be read as a whole and sections which are a part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect. *S.C. State Ports Auth. V. Jasper Cnty.*, 368 S.C. 388, 398, 629 S.E. 2d 624, 629 (2006). Thus, the preservation of common law rights for favored patients under Subsection (B) must be given effect despite the absence of patient distinctions in Subsection (A).

“If the statute is ambiguous...Courts must construe the terms of the statute.” *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 713 S.E. 2d 278 (2011). The statutory language must be construed considering the intended purpose of the statute. *Id.* A court must not construe a statute in a way that leads to an absurd result or renders it meaningless. *Lancaster Cnty Bar Ass’n v. S.C. Comm’n on Indigent Def.*, 380 S.C. 219, 670 S.E. 2d 371 (2008). (“In construing a statute, this Court will reject an interpretation when such an interpretation leads to an absurd result that could not have been intended by the legislature”.) These are well-established rules of statutory construction. See *Ranucci v. Crain*, 409 S.C. 493, 763 S.E.2d 189 (2014).

Subsection (B) addresses obstetrical care to the exclusion of all other types of primary or specialty care. Subsection (A) has no similar limitations. When Subsection (B) is applied to favored patients, their common law tort rights are preserved. Yet if broadly written Subsection (A) is construed to supplant narrowly written Subsection (B), those same rights would be curtailed or destroyed. That would be an absurd result, which cannot be allowed.

“[W]here there is one statute addressing an issue in general terms and another statute dealing with the identical issue in a more specific and definite manner, the more specific statute will be considered an exception to, or a qualifier of, the general statute and

given such effect.” *Whiteside v. Cherokee Sch. Dist. No. One*, 311 S.C. 335, 340, 428 S.E.2d 886, 889 (1993) (citing *Wilder v. South Carolina Hwy Dep’t.*, 228 S.C. 448, 90 S.E. 625 (1955)). By force of logic, the same principle should be applied to subsections of a statute which is in derogation of the common law, where the more specific subsection is less offensive to the common law.

“Under the ‘last legislative expression’ rule, where conflicting provisions exist, the last in point of time or order of arrangement, prevails. *Ramsey v. County of McCormick*, 306 S.C. 393, 397, 412 S.E.2d 408, 410 (1991); *Feldman v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 203 S.C. 49, 51, 26 S.E.2d 22, 24 (1943). As Subsection (B) follows (A), the former must prevail over the latter.

The legislature did not intend subsection (A) to be applied in isolation, to the exclusion of subsection (B). The General Assembly was purposeful in preserving recovery for ordinary obstetrical negligence where there has been a previous doctor/patient relationship *and* prenatal care. See *Ranucci* at 499-500. For these reasons the trial judge erred in failing to disallow the statutory defense as a matter of law.

**II. S.C. CODE SECTION 15-32-230(A) IS AMBIGUOUS AND MUST BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH STANDARD PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION.**

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