**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Georgetown County  
Court of Common Pleas

**Larry Hyman, Circuit Court Judge**

---

Case No. 2016-CP-22-00863  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001304

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 28 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Phillippa Smalling, individually and  
as Next Friend for Jahmerican M., a minor,

Appellant,

v.

Lisa R. Maselli, M.D., both individually and  
as agent/employee of Carolina OB-GYN,

Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**Hood Law Firm, LLC**

James B. Hood, (SC #70212)  
John O. Radeck (SC #77849)  
Deborah H. Sheffield, *Of Counsel* (SC #2757)  
172 Meeting Street  
P.O. Box 1508

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

Plaintiff also relies on the ‘last legislative expression’ rule and argues that somehow (B) trumps (A) because it comes last. However, that rule is one of last resort only to be applied when there is clearly an irreconcilable conflict and other rules of interpretation fail to resolve the conflict. *Eagle Container Co., LLC v. County of Newberry*, 379 S.C. 564, 666 S.E.2d 892, 896 (2008) (citing *Feldman v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 203 S.C. 49, 54, 26 S.E.2d 22, 24 (1943)).

Here, there is no repugnancy or irreconcilable conflict between (A) and (B), because each subsection applies to different situations with different elements.

The limitation of liability in (A) applies under a specified set of circumstances:

- to any type of medical care
- rendered in a genuine emergency situation
- to any patient facing an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury
- in one of three specific venues - an emergency room OR an obstetrical suite OR a surgical suite.

The same gross negligence limitation of liability is made applicable in (B) to a different set of circumstances:

- to obstetrical care
- rendered by a physician on an emergency basis
- to a “new patient” or a patient that has not received prenatal care.

The limitation of liability under both (A) and (B) is only available upon proof of the elements set forth in (C), namely

- the patient is not medically stable;
- the patient is in immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury; and
- the care was rendered prior to the patient’s discharge from one of the three specific venues.<sup>7</sup>

It is conceivable that there could be an overlap where a physician would be entitled to limited liability under the provisions of both (A) and (B), but the provisions of (A) and (B) are not coterminous. For example, Section (B) operates where obstetrical care is provided on an emergency basis outside of the Emergency Room, OB suite, or Surgical suite, but where the care for that patient is eventually transitioned to one of those three settings. Once the patient is inside the Emergency Room, OB suite, or Surgical Suite, then Section (A) becomes the operative provision. Finally, under Section (C), in no circumstance will the limitation of liability apply to care provided once the patient is actually discharged from the Emergency Room, OB suite, or Surgical Suite. Thus, Section (A) and (B) reflect the reality that emergencies arise in settings

---

<sup>7</sup> The additional required elements of medical instability and immediate threats set forth in subsection (C) are discussed below as they were submitted to the jury under the applicable provision of subsection (A).

outside of an Emergency room, OB suite, or Surgical suite. In those settings, Section (B) would apply to the extent its other provisions are met.

The “specific-trumps-the general” and the “last in time” rules are not absolute, controlling rules, but simply two of the many rules that are supposed to guide the court in determining legislative intent and the proposition may be overcome by indications that reconcile the provisions harmoniously such that the specific provision embraced within a general one is not superfluous, but creates a discrete provision that is not mutually exclusive or preemptive. *See Insight Sys. Corp. v. United States*, 110 Fed. Cl. 564, 579 (2013) (citing *RadLAX Gateway Hotel, LLC v. Amalgamated Bank*, 566 U.S. 639, 645 (2012) (“One can conceive of a statutory scheme in which the specific provision embraced within a general one is not superfluous, because it creates a so-called safe harbor.”)). “Redundancies across statutes are not unusual events in drafting, and so long as there is no ‘positive repugnancy’ between two laws, a court must give effect to both.” *Connecticut Nat'l Bank v. Germain*, 503 U.S. 249, 253 (1992) (citation omitted); *see also Adirondack Med. Ctr. v. Sebelius*, 891 F. Supp. 2d 36, 47 (D.D.C. 2012), *aff'd*, 740 F.3d 692 (D.C. Cir. 2014)). While there is some overlap/redundancy between (A) and (B), there is no conflict amounting to a repugnancy and applying (A) does not make (B) wholly superfluous.

Plaintiff’s argument disregards the rule that statutes are supposed to be construed to give effect to every clause and every part of the statute to produce a consistent and harmonious whole. *Kitchen v. Southern Ry.*, 68 S.C. 554, 48 S.E. 4, 8 (1904); *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011). “A construction which would leave without effect any part of the language used should be rejected, if an interpretation can be found which will give it effect.” *Kitchen, id.* (citation omitted). “A statute should be so construed that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous....” *Matter of Decker*, 322

S.C. 215, 471 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1995) (quoting 82 C.J.S. *Statutes* § 346); *Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. v. Greenville County Planning Commission*, 426 S.C. 97, 825 S.E.2d 721, 726 (Ct. App. 2019). The Court “should seek a construction that gives effect to every word of a statute rather than adopting an interpretation that renders a portion meaningless.” *Hinton v. South Carolina Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 357 S.C. 327, 592 S.E.2d 335, 343 (Ct. App. 2004). Plaintiff’s interpretation of § 15-32-230(B) would render a portion of subsection (A) meaningless and nullify a limitation of liability given in (A). However, when the two subsections of §15-32-230 are carefully read with proper consideration of these rules of construction, it is clear that the two subsections provide a limitation of liability to physicians in different situations, and the Trial Court correctly charged the jury on the limitation of liability provided in subsection (A) based on the evidence of record in this case.

The words of the Court found in *State v. Pilot Life* are particularly fitting here: “When and where appropriate, the court uses the assorted rules of interpretation to resolve ambiguities, not for the purpose of creating them.” 186 S.E.2d at 269. Nor should those rules be used to defeat the obvious purpose of legislation. *See Gooch v. United States*, 297 U.S. 124, 128 (1936). The Plaintiff attempts to create ambiguities in Subsection (B) to avoid the limitation of liability in (A), but (B) is not inconsistent with or repugnant to (A) to the extent that it extends the limitation of liability to encompass a more specific scenario in obstetrical care cases and with an added focus on the relationship between the patient and physician. Subsection (B) applies to a claim arising out of obstetrical care rendered on an emergency basis to a “new” patient that the physician had never treated or to a patient who had never received prenatal care, but this limitation of liability is broader than (A) in that it also applies to obstetrical care provided outside of an Emergency room, OB suite, or Surgical suite. However, nothing in subsection (B) can be rationally construed to

negate the provision of subsection (A) and deprive limited liability to a physician providing obstetrical care to *an established patient* in an obstetrical suite when the patient is facing a genuine emergency. Subsection (B) clearly did not apply to the claims made against Dr. Maselli, as a matter of law, given the undisputed fact that the Patient Mother was an established patient of her Group where she received prenatal care, and given the fact that the care was provided inside of an OB suite. Accordingly, the Trial Court properly denied the Plaintiff's motion for directed verdict and the judgment on the jury verdict should be affirmed.

**II. The Trial Court properly submitted the emergency medical and obstetrical care exception in subsection (A) to the jury.**

The limitation on liability provided in §15-32-230(A) is an affirmative defense and, as such, the defendant physician has the burden of proving all three required elements: “(1) the claim arises out of a genuine emergency situation, (2) the patient is not medically stable, and (3) the patient was under an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury.” *See Byrd*, 831 S.E.2d at 155. Respondent maintains that the Plaintiff did not adequately preserve any issue for appeal regarding the sufficiency of evidence on any of these elements presented to the jury and found in Dr. Maselli's favor. Respondent further maintains that the evidence created questions of fact on each of the elements for the jury to determine.

**A. The Plaintiff failed to preserve these issues for appellate review.**

The Plaintiff moved for a directed verdict only as to one of these elements – medical instability. [ROA 807; Tr. 798:4-8.] Thus, no issue is preserved for appellate review of the sufficiency of the evidence on the elements of genuine emergency or immediate threats. *Holly Woods Ass'n of Residence Owners v. Hiller*, 392 S.C. 172, 708 S.E.2d 787, 796 (Ct. App. 2011) (motion for directed verdict must present specific basis same as raised in appeal); *Creech v. S.C. Wildlife & Marine Res. Dep't*, 328 S.C. 24, 34, 491 S.E.2d 571, 576 (1997) (holding the appellant's

failure to raise a particular issue in its directed verdict motion precludes appellate review of that issue); *see also* Rule 50(a), SCRCP (“A motion for a directed verdict shall state the specific grounds therefor.”).

The Trial Court charged the jury on the §15-32-230(A) exception as follows:

In an action involving a medical malpractice claim arising out of care rendered in a genuine emergency situation involving an immediate threat or death or serious bodily injury to the patient receiving care in an emergency department or in an obstetrical or surgical suite, no physician may be held liable unless it is proven that the physician was grossly negligent. This limitation on physical liability -- physician liability, shall only apply if the patient is not medically stable and immediate threat or death or an immediate threat of serious bodily injury. The defendant has the burden of proving the existence of a genuine emergency situation, the medical instability of the patient, and the immediate threat of a death or serious bodily injury from the higher proof of gross negligence -- for the higher proof of gross negligence to apply. The defendant must make this proof by a preponderance or greater weight of the evidence.

[ROA 867-68; Tr. 858:11 – 859:3.] Consistent with the jury charge, the Trial Court presented the jury with a verdict form containing special interrogatories to address the elements of the emergency obstetrical care exception:

3. Did the Defendants prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the events of Jahmerican's delivery constitutes a genuine medical emergency?
4. Did the Defendants prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Jahmerican was not medically stable at the time of the events in question?
5. Did the Defendants prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there was an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury to Jahmerican at the time of the events in question?
6. Did the Plaintiff prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the Defendants were grossly negligent?

[ROA 4; Verdict.]

The Plaintiff did not object to this instruction on the limitation of liability under subsection

A. Rather, the Plaintiff only objected “to the decision not to charge section B of the medical

emergency statute” which corresponded to her “technical legal argument” as discussed above. [ROA 711; Tr. 702:8-9. ROA 712; Tr. 703:1-7.] The Plaintiff did not make any objection to the verdict form. [ROA 713; Tr. 704:18.] By failing to make any objection to the special verdict form that asked the jury to consider all these elements, the Plaintiff waived any argument that she was entitled to directed verdict on the obstetrical emergency exception. *Stephens v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 415 S.C. 182, 781 S.E.2d 534, 541 (2015); *Byrd v. McLeod*, 831 S.E.2d at 157.

On appeal, the Plaintiff complains that the statute does not define “genuine emergency,” “the patient is not medically stable” or “in immediate threat,” and proffers definitions of these terms from various online dictionaries.<sup>8</sup> [Appellant’s brief, p. 16-18.] However, the Plaintiff did not raise any issue as to the lack of statutory definitions in her directed verdict motion, and she never asked the Trial Court to define those terms in the jury charge. Thus, she failed to preserve such definition issues for appeal. *Byrd v. McLeod*, 831 S.E.2d at 157 (argument not preserved for review where plaintiff did not request any charge to provide a definition of “medical stability” and she did not make any argument related to such definition in her JNOV motion).

---

<sup>8</sup> Absence of statutory definitions would not render the statute void or unenforceable. See *Briggs v. Greenville County*, 137 S.C. 288, 135 S.E. 153, 155 (1926). As the Trial Court noted, undefined terms are to be taken and understood in their plain and ordinary meaning. [ROA 438; Tr. 429:7-10.] See *Media General Communications, Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue*, 388 S.C. 138, 694 S.E.2d 525, 530 (2010) (undefined terms are to be taken and understood in their plain and ordinary sense, “unless it fairly appears from the context that the Legislature intended to use such terms in a technical or peculiar sense.”).

**B. The evidence created a question of fact for the jury as to whether the presentation of shoulder dystocia constituted “a genuine emergency situation.”**

The Defendant and her OB experts all testified that the shoulder dystocia was a genuine emergency. Dr. Robinson testified that the crux of a shoulder dystocia emergency is that the baby cannot breathe while only the head has delivered and there is no way for the obstetrician to know how long it will take to resolve the situation and deliver that baby:

So, anytime that you have an individual that cannot breathe on its own and cannot establish itself outside to be able to continue to thrive and do well, that person is experiencing a genuine emergency, because they have no control over that process of when they're going to come out and none of us knows the minute, second or hour that that is going to take place or that person is going to be able to transition to that. In other words, no one has a crystal ball to tell them what the future is like. We like to focus sometimes on the retrospectrogram, which is to look backwards and say well, this is what happened. None of us have that capability. That's the reason this is an emergency and has to be treated as such, as an emergency.

[ROA 638; Tr. 629:3-15. See also Dr. Maselli – ROA 538; 529:18-20. Dr. Chauhan – ROA 759; Tr. 750:11-17.] In addition, the Pediatrician present at the delivery testified that it was an emergency. [ROA 603; Tr. 594:9-15.] However, the Plaintiff's OB expert refused to admit that shoulder dystocia was a “genuine emergency.”

While Plaintiff's obstetrical expert agreed, on cross examination, with recognized, reliable medical literature, that “shoulder dystocia is an unpredictable, acute, life threatening emergency,” he refused to admit that this case of shoulder dystocia was a “genuine emergency” and insisted on quibbling about the gravity of the emergency with semantics. [ROA 248; Tr. 239:3-4.] Plaintiff's expert described shoulder dystocia as just an “emergent condition” when it first presents and maintained that it does not spiral into a genuine emergency if resolved quickly. [ROA 246-47; Tr. 237:24–238:6, 239:23.] He did agree, however, “the condition itself can be considered an emergency because at some point, in that condition, life and limb can be at risk.” [ROA 249; Tr.

240:4-6.] He also admitted that the obstetrician does not know at what point the condition will become “genuine”. [ROA 249; Tr. 240:7-12.] Respondent maintains that the Plaintiff’s expert opinion on the “emergent” condition could not negate the Defendant’s expert opinion, and merely created a question of fact for the jury as to whether the presentation of shoulder dystocia constituted “a genuine emergency situation.” Accordingly, the Trial Court properly denied the Plaintiff’s motion for a directed verdict.

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